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—When thinking of schools in Salem where the Sisters of Notre Dame taught, St. James is the first name to come to mind. But
the Sisters of Notre Dame arrived in Salem more than 20 years before St. James school and convent were completed in 1878.
Because the sisters ultimately withdrew from St. Mary’s Parochial School in 1891, the memory and stories of the sisters who
taught there have faded with time.

The first Catholic church to be built in Salem was St. Mary’s in 1821. It stood on the corner of Bridge and Mall Streets, which
bordered the North River at that time. In 1846, Fr. James Conway became the pastor for St. Mary’s Church and Parish. Because
the city of Salem, like so many other communities in Massachusetts, was experiencing a huge surge in immigrants, Fr. Conway
realized the parish needed a school. After purchasing the old “Hodges Estate” on Walnut Street, he had it converted into
schoolhouse. Already realizing the need for a new church as well, he also had an old mansion that stood on the site of the
present day Immaculate Conception Church moved to the site behind the school to serve as a convent.

In 1855, Fr. James Conway invited the Sisters of Notre Dame to take over this new parish school. In fact, he couldn’t have
chosen a worse time. Just the previous year, the Know Nothing Party had won election in Massachusetts. Their anti-immigration
policies fueled the rising anger from local residents over immigrants settling into the area. The sisters coming from Cincinnati to
Salem arrived at the train station on Monday, September 24, 1855 and no doubt, they were aware of the danger. With them
was Sister Louise, the Provincial Superior for all of Eastern United States. She came to insure her sisters would be housed in a
safe and structurally sound building. Those first fours sisters were Sisters Mary Felcienne [Superior], Euphrasia, Martha and
Mary Josephine. While the sisters did not experience open hostility from their neighbors, some people tried to annoy the sisters
when they walked from their convent on Walnut Street to St. Mary’s for Mass. Several men also attempted to break into the
convent and when they failed, they threw stones at the windows until one broke.

St. Mary’s School opened on Wednesday October 10th. That first year 130 girls enrolled, taught mostly by Sisters Martha
and Mary Josephine in two classrooms. They brought with them their Course of Studies from Cincinnati which described the
goal of the Notre Dame education. “The Christian education of young girls is the primary means employed by our Institute to
attain the end for which it was founded, namely: the glory of God. . .” The sisters taught religious education, church history,
reading, spelling, writing, arithmetic, grammar, history, geography, drawing, singing, and needlework. By the following spring,
the number of students rose to over 200 and another room was prepared in the building to handle the increase. In addition to
the daily lessons, the sisters also prepared 56 children for First Communion in May of 1856. And because so many children
worked during the day, the sisters opened a night school two evenings a week for any children and adults who wished to learn.
Reading, writing, arithmetic and Christian doctrine were taught to those students. During that first year 80 students were
enrolled in the night school.

The following September, more than 350 children had enrolled in St. Mary’s. And with 2500 parishioners listed in the parish
census, Fr. Conway labored for the beginning of new, larger church and parish. And so, ground was broken for the new




Immaculate Conception Church which was completed in 1858. The parish continued to grow in leaps and bounds, drawing
in more students to St. Mary’s, and necessitating more sisters to teach. To handle the growing number of Catholic

families and children, St. James Church on Federal Street opened its own parish school in 1864. For the next 14 years, the
sisters walked from Walnut to Federal Street to teach the children in the church basement. Finally, in 1878, St. James
parish completed its own convent for ten sisters who took charge of the new school building.

Through those years, St. Mary’s was always a girls school. And as a girls school, it had great success. In 1890, more than
500 children were enrolled. But for several years, the Sisters of Notre Dame in Massachusetts had been pressured by a
number of parishes to teach boys as well. While they often prepared small boys for First Communion, their founding mission
had always been the importance of educating girls. Sister Louise, the Eastern Superior, refused to have the sisters take on
the work of teaching boys as well. Not long before her death, she wrote to all the sisters in Massachusetts “that the more |
have prayed, the more | am convinced that no matter what others do, we should not take the boy’s parochial schools.”
When Sr. Julia McGroarty was named the new Superior for the Eastern U.S. in 1887, she was reluctant to change that policy.

The Annals and Journals kept by the Salem sisters at St. James do not comment on any discussion as to the Walnut
Street sisters being asked to teach boys. But during 1890 and through 1891, there is mention several times of “Sr. Superior
[going] to Walnut Street with Sr. Superior Julia.” The St. James Journal, which was an almost daily account of convent
activity, reported through June and July 1891 that the St. James Superior, Sister Mary Victorine met with the Eastern
Provincial Superior, Sr. Julia McGroarty. While it’s impossible to guess the nature of their business, the St. James Annals
announced that on August 14, 1891 “the convent on Walnut Street was closed at 12:30 o”clock after an existence of about
forty years. Sister Mary Victorine, Superior, and Sister Angelista became our guests for several days. The closing caused a
great deal of exciting talk for some weeks, but gradually calmed down. The people were very much incensed against Father
Hally for making the change.”

The Fr. Hally mentioned was Fr. William Hally. After the Sisters of Notre Dame left St. Mary’s, the school was run by the
Sisters of Charity, who agreed to also teach boys as well as girls, until 1972 when it closed.
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